### ABORIGINAL COMMUNITIES IMPROVING ABORIGINAL HEALTH

An evidence review on the contribution of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services to improving Aboriginal health







### ABOUT THE ARTWORK

This artwork was created by Aboriginal Graphic Designer Carissa Paglino, Newcastle NSW. Carissa is a descendant of the Gamilaroi and Wonaruah nations, also having Italian heritage.

The artwork was created to celebrate the AH&MRC 30th Anniversary in 2015 and represents the journey of the AH&MRC over 30 years and into the future, the diverse areas of work of the AH&MRC, and the relationship between the AH&MRC and its member services and Aboriginal communities.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was prepared by Dr Megan Campbell, with support from Dr Jenny Hunt, in their roles as AH&MRC Public Health Medical Officers.

The majority of the targeted research for the report was undertaken by Dr Campbell. This built on a long term and ongoing project of collating and reflecting on evidence about the role of ACCHSs in improving Aboriginal health, that has involved many AH&MRC staff and others within and outside the ACCHS sector over many years.

Drafts of this report were reviewed by AH&MRC staff, including Kerri Lucas (Public Health Manager) and Jo Coutts (Senior Project Officer), and publication of the report was endorsed by the AH&MRC Board of Directors.

The AH&MRC would like to acknowledge and thank Dr David Scrimgeour and Dr Maureen Davey who reviewed drafts and provided comment and other input during the preparation of this report.

The AH&MRC would like to acknowledge Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services and Aboriginal communities for their continued efforts to improve the health of Aboriginal peoples. We also acknowledge the Aboriginal peoples who are the traditional custodians of New South Wales, and pay our respects to Elders past and present.

ISBN: 978-0-9943850-3-1

#### Suggested citation:

Aboriginal Health & Medical Research Council. (2015). Aboriginal communities improving Aboriginal health: An evidence review on the contribution of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services to improving Aboriginal health. Sydney: AH&MRC.

Further copies of this document can be downloaded from the AH&MRC website www.ahmrc.org.au

## CONTENTS

Forev	vord	3
Exec	utive Summary	4
1	Background	5
1.1	Structure of this document	5
2	Context	6
2.1	Primary care, primary health care and primary health care services	6
2.2	Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services (ACCHSs)	7
2.3	A framework for considering the contributions of ACCHSs	8
3	Methods	11
4	Results	12
4.1	Impact of community control on health	12
4.2	Contribution of ACCHS knowledge, expertise, partnerships and advocacy	12
4.3	Contribution of ACCHSs as employers and trainers	13
4.4	Contribution of ACCHSs as primary health care providers	13
4.4.1	Impact of ACCHSs on access to primary health care	13
4.4.2	Evidence that ACCHSs provide best practice comprehensive primary health care	16
4.4.3	Contribution of the ACCHS primary health care model	17
4.4.4	Contribution of ACCHS primary health care components	18
5	Discussion	22
6	References	24

Aboriginal Communities Improving Aboriginal Health

An evidence review on the contribution of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services to improving Aboriginal health 2015



### FOREWORD

Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services (ACCHSs) have long been working to promote, advocate and support improved health and health care for Aboriginal peoples in Australia. ACCHSs have always been at the heart of Aboriginal communities, grounded in local values and culture, and providing a place for engagement, activism, employment and safe haven, in addition to delivering high quality evidence-based health care. The health care offered by ACCHSs is comprehensive and culturally appropriate and it is this model of health care that is regarded as the most effective in addressing the poor health faced by Indigenous communities around the world.

This review considers the published literature documenting the contribution ACCHSs have made to the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal communities. A key strength of the review is that it takes a broad perspective of the ways in which ACCHSs impact on the health of Aboriginal peoples, and explores the scope of possibilities for their contribution to improving health. It is essential that the information in this review, and its holistic conceptual approach, be considered when making funding and policy decisions that affect the health and wellbeing of Aboriginal communities.

It is important to note that individual ACCHSs are making many contributions to improving the health and wellbeing of local Aboriginal peoples and communities that are not reflected in the published literature. I encourage ACCHSs to consider publishing accounts of their experiences and achievements, so that all can benefit from their insights and these sources of evidence.

It gives me great pleasure to introduce this report.

Ms Sandra Bailey Chief Executive Officer Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of NSW

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Aboriginal communities have a long history of working to address the needs of Aboriginal peoples. Since the first Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service (ACCHS) was established in Redfern, NSW in 1971, more than 150 ACCHSs have been established around Australia. While the Aboriginal community controlled health sector has long argued that ACCHSs are a vital part of Australia's health care system, there has been little in the published literature acknowledging and supporting their roles and recognising their contributions to improving Aboriginal health. This review aims to provide a comprehensive collation and analysis of the available evidence about the different ways in which ACCHSs contribute to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples.

Several methods were used to undertake this literature review including a systematic and structured review of peer-reviewed articles and a search of key organisation websites and databases to locate grey literature. Publications were included if they evaluated an ACCHS service or activity and considered the impact on health outcomes or health related outcomes. In addition, qualitative studies were included if they described attributes of ACCHSs and the relationship of these attributes to health and health care outcomes or if they described the impacts of ACCHS activities on the broader Australian health system.

The reviewed literature demonstrates that ACCHSs contribute to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples through several pathways. As community controlled organisations, ACCHSs are practical expressions of Aboriginal peoples' self-determination, and this is reflected in ACCHS governance and health care models. The community-controlled model has been demonstrated to be associated with improved psychological wellbeing and reduced hospitalization rates for Indigenous groups in other countries.

ACCHSs address other social determinants of health directly. As employers and trainers, ACCHSs contribute to improving the socioeconomic contexts in which Aboriginal people live by providing employment and educational opportunities, as well as providing an important setting for non-Aboriginal health professionals to increase their understanding of culturally appropriate care. ACCHSs contribute further to the broader health system by acting as partners and advocates to other organisations to support them to address the health needs of Aboriginal communities.

As primary health care providers ACCHSs directly contribute to improving Aboriginal health through increasing access to, and delivering, best practice comprehensive primary health care. ACCHSs increase Aboriginal peoples' access to primary health care across a variety of locations and health areas, and among hard to reach sub-populations of Aboriginal people, including those with mental illness and alcohol and drug issues. ACCHS impacts on access to primary health care are also evident in areas where alternative primary health and other services operate; multiple studies describe a preference among Aboriginal peoples for ACCHS delivered care. Qualitative studies suggest that this preference is because ACCHS delivered care is flexible and responsive, culturally appropriate and delivered by trusted staff in a safe setting.

ACCHSs deliver a broad range of primary health care services that are highly integrated and coordinated. Studies exploring consultations occurring at ACCHSs and general practice identify important differences between the models of care offered. ACCHSs are more likely to provide holistic care and involve a range of health professionals and services. The ACCHS primary health care model has been associated with improved population level indicators, such as mortality, as well as improvements in a range of specific health outcomes, in child and maternal health, chronic disease, mental health and sexual health in particular.

There are important gaps in the evidence base, including a lack of studies on the ACCHS primary health care model as a whole and its impacts in some health areas. However, the evidence that is available provides a solid foundation supporting the roles and contributions of ACCHSs. Consideration of this evidence is vital to ensure programs and policies are appropriate and effective in improving the health of Aboriginal peoples.

## 1 | BACKGROUND

Aboriginal\* communities have a long history of working to address the needs of Aboriginal peoples. In 1971 the first Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service (ACCHS) was established in Redfern in response to the high burden of disease experienced by the local Aboriginal community and the failure of the health system to address these needs. At this time, Aboriginal peoples' fight for self-determination was growing and the establishment of ACCHSs allowed Aboriginal peoples' participation in, and control over, their health care. Since 1971, more than 150 ACCHSs have been established by Aboriginal communities around Australia (*Alford K, 2014, p. 178*).

The Aboriginal community controlled health sector has long argued that ACCHSs are a vital part of Australia's health care system. However, there is little in the published literature that recognises the contribution of ACCHSs in improving Aboriginal health. Several government and non-government reviews have collated evidence for what works in improving Aboriginal health (Black A, 2007; Deeble Institute, 2014; Dwyer J, Silburn K, & Wilson G, 2004; Griew R, Tilton E, Cox N, & Thomas D, 2008; Halliday D & Segal L, 2012; Herceg A, 2005; Shannon C, Wakerman J, Hill P, Barnes T, & Griew R, 2002). Only some of these reviews focused on the role of the primary health care sector, and none have fully considered the broad range of contributions of ACCHSs to improving Aboriginal health.

The Aboriginal Health &Medical Research Council (AH&MRC) is the peak body and voice of Aboriginal communities on health in New South Wales and represents around fifty Aboriginal Community Controlled Health (ACCHSs) and health related services. The AH&MRC supports ACCHSs to deliver health care and advocates on their behalf, and on the behalf of Aboriginal communities, at a state and federal level.

The AH&MRC has undertaken this review to address the evidence gap that currently exists, about the range of contributions ACCHSs are making to improve Aboriginal health. This evidence is needed to inform the development of policy and programs, and decisions about funding, in Aboriginal primary health care and other efforts to improve Aboriginal health. It is also important for the Aboriginal community controlled health sector to know about the size and strength of the evidence base regarding the contribution of ACCHSs to improving health so that they are able to draw and build on this information.

The purpose of this literature review is to present the evidence supporting the contributions of ACCHSs to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples, so that this information is available for the Aboriginal community controlled health sector, funders, policy makers and others with an interest in improving Aboriginal health. The review aims to provide a comprehensive collation and analysis of the available evidence about the range of different pathways through which ACCHSs contribute to improving Aboriginal health, by addressing the following questions:

- 1. How do ACCHSs contribute to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples?
- 2. What is the available evidence supporting the contribution of ACCHSs to improving Aboriginal health?

#### 1.1 Structure of this document

This review is divided into five sections:

- Section I provides background information outlining why this evidence review was undertaken.
- Section 2 describes important contextual information to frame the review findings. Information on primary health care and organisations in Australia is provided, including the role and history of ACCHSs. A discussion on the pathways through which ACCHSs can contribute to health is also included.
- Section 3 outlines the methods used to undertake the literature review.
- Section 4 contains the results of the review, grouped into several subsections that reflect the earlier consideration of pathways for ACCHS contributions to improving health (Section 2).
- **Section 5** discusses the findings of the review, and their relevance for funders and policy makers.

\* The term Aboriginal has been used throughout this document in recognition that Aboriginal peoples are the first inhabitants of NSW and may refer to both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

# 2 | CONTEXT

# 2.1 Primary care, primary health care and primary health care services

The terms primary care and primary health care are used in different ways in an Australian context (*Hurley C*, *Baum F*, *Johns J*, & *Labonte R*, *2010*). 'Primary care' generally refers to primary medical care, a medical model approach to delivering care. Primary medical care is commonly defined as the health care provided to an individual at the first point of contact with the health system (*Commonwealth of Australia, 2009*) and is typically focused on clinical interventions for individuals.

'Primary health care' is a broader approach to considering health and providing care, and is defined in the Declaration of Alma Ata:

Primary health care is essential health care based on practical, scientifically sound and socially acceptable methods and technology made universally accessible to individuals and families in the community through their full participation and at a cost that the community and country can afford to maintain at every stage of their development in the spirit of selfreliance and self-determination (World Health Organisation, 1978).

The concept of health underpinning this definition of primary health care has two important aspects. First, health is framed holistically, with biological, social, cultural, economic and environmental influences. Second, health, and therefore access to primary health care, is considered a human right. Primary health care, as defined here, involves integrated and coordinated primary medical care as well as social support (for a range of health and related needs) and population health strategies; it is responsive to community need and works to address inequities and disadvantage (*Keleher H, 2001*).

This definition of primary health care is also known as 'comprehensive primary health care'. In contrast, selective primary health care has been advocated as providing a more economically rationalist approach to improving health outcomes (*Rogers W & Veale B, 2000*). Selective primary health care lies between primary care and comprehensive primary health care and focuses on particular health services to improve population health. Like primary medical care, selective primary health care emphasises medical interventions and the role of health professionals, rather than taking a multidisciplinary approach controlled by the community; it does not espouse the philosophical principles of comprehensive primary health care. For the purposes of this review, the term primary health care is used to refer to comprehensive primary health care.

Internationally, there is consensus that services providing comprehensive primary health care can lead to improved population health outcomes, reduced health inequities (Keleher H, 2001), reduced hospital admissions and reduced overall health care utilisation (Browne AJ et al., 2012). Primary health care services are particularly important for marginalised and disadvantaged populations where the greatest gains in health can be made (World Health Organisation, 1978). The involvement of Indigenous communities in the delivery of community health care is a principle upheld in the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (United Nations, 2008). Primary health care approaches and services, that integrate accessible, high quality and responsive services with structural and policy changes to improve the social determinants of health, have been described as one of the most effective means of achieving greater equity and closing the gap in health outcomes between different populations (Browne AJ et al., 2012).

In Australia, primary medical care is provided in a variety of settings, including general practice, emergency departments, community health centres, government-run Aboriginal health services and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services. Primary health care, as described here, is provided by a much smaller subset of these services. A range of barriers to providing primary health care have been identified, the most significant being the complex funding arrangements for health organisations that create barriers to integrating providers and services within and between organisations (*Hurley C et al., 2010*).

# 2 | CONTEXT

In particular, the business model underpinning general practice, where funding is primarily derived from the Medicare Benefits Schedule, has been described as fragmenting care into "short episodes of discrete service delivery" (*Boxall AM & Gillespie J, 2013*), and this may limit integration and coordination of health care.

Much of the literature on Aboriginal health care refers to "mainstream services". This term is typically used to define those health care services that do not specifically target Aboriginal people. These services are diverse, and include fee for service private general practices and government-run services that are not specifically targeting Aboriginal people. There are also government-run services that do target Aboriginal people and these are a diverse group of services with some sharing features with ACCHSs, such as community participation and salaried general practitioners (Hayman NE, White NE, & Spurling GK, 2009). It is important that when making comparisons between ACCHSs and other services that there is explicit consideration of the specific types of services being compared, and their likely similarities and differences.

### 2.2 Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services (ACCHSs)

ACCHSs are primary health care services that have been initiated, and are operated, by local Aboriginal communities to deliver holistic, comprehensive and culturally appropriate health care to the community which controls it (*National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, 2014*). ACCHSs first arose in the early 1970s in response to the failure of the health system to meet the needs of Aboriginal peoples (*National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, 2012*) and the aspirations of Aboriginal peoples for self-determination. Since then, the number of ACCHSs has expanded and there are now 150 ACCHSs around Australia.

ACCHSs have developed a comprehensive model of primary health care that is consistent with, yet predates, the definition of primary health care outlined in the Declaration of Alma Ata (*World Health Organisation, 1978*). ACCHSs were the first organisations to offer comprehensive primary health care in Australia and are acknowledged as the best example in recent times (*Couzos S & Murray R, 2007; Hurley C et al., 2010*). The ACCHS model is based on the Aboriginal concept of health, as articulated in the National Aboriginal Health Strategy:

Aboriginal health means not just the physical well-being of an individual but refers to the social, emotional and cultural well-being of the whole community in which each individual is able to achieve their full potential as a human being (NAHSWP, 1989).

By definition ACCHSs are incorporated Aboriginal organisations, initiated and based in local Aboriginal communities (*Couzos S & Murray R, 2007*). An Aboriginal board of directors is elected by the local Aboriginal community to govern each ACCHS. This unique governance model makes ACCHSs directly operated by, and accountable to, the local Aboriginal community (*Couzos S & Murray R, 2007*). ACCHSs vary in terms of size, funding, infrastructure, workforce and governance, and consequently in the range of services they offer. The services provided by each ACCHS are also a reflection of the unique health needs of the community in which they are based.

ACCHSs have many common features, including the expression of comprehensive primary health care through team-based multidisciplinary and holistic care (*Larkins SL, Geia LK, & Panaretto KS, 2006*). The National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO) describes the ACCHS model of comprehensive primary health care as including:

- Clinical services for the prevention and management of acute and chronic disease
- Illness prevention services including immunisation, antenatal screening and environmental health programs
- Specific programs for health gain such as antenatal care, nutrition, physical activity, social and emotional wellbeing, oral health and substance misuse
- Access to secondary and tertiary health services and community services including aged and disability care

#### Community assistance and advocacy services (NACCHO, 2013).

Aboriginal Health Workers are central to the ACCHS model of care. The primary role of Aboriginal Health Workers is delivering health care. In addition to this, Aboriginal Health Workers provide an important cultural brokerage role, assisting Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal health care providers and organisations to communicate better and overcome cultural barriers (Abbott P, Gordon E, & J, 2008). Other roles depend on training, interest and local need, and may include health promotion, clinical care (such as immunisations, pap smears and health assessments), education and cultural mentoring to non-Aboriginal health professionals. Registered Aboriginal Health Practitioners, a subset of Aboriginal Health Workers, assess and manage patients' healthcare including supplying medications. Other health organisations, in particular general practices, are much less likely to involve Aboriginal Health Workers (Australian Medical Association, 2011).

ACCHSs have been established and operate in the context of significant historical, political and social challenges (Australian Indigenous Health InfoNet, 2014). The health disadvantages experienced by Aboriginal peoples reflect the history of colonisation and poor government policy as well as contemporary structural and social factors. Aboriginal peoples continue to be less likely to have the economic opportunities, physical infrastructure and social conditions necessary for health. Despite the considerable need for health care for Aboriginal peoples, ACCHSs are limited by complex and inadequate funding arrangements (Couzos S & Murray R, 2007). Government policies regarding ACCHSs have varied from lack of acknowledgement and funding, to support for selfdetermination and Aboriginal specific services, to an expectation that Aboriginal people will access services that are not Aboriginal-specific (Scrimgeour M & Scrimgeour D, 2007).

The context in which ACCHSs arose and continue to operate means that ACCHSs have community functions which extend beyond health care delivery (*Couzos S & Murray R, 2007*). ACCHSs are key sites for

Aboriginal community development and provide broad benefits to the community through employment, advocacy and leadership. ACCHSs are an important domain of the Aboriginal community sector, which has an integral role in Aboriginal civil society (*Sullivan P*, 2010). Community organisations such as ACCHSs are also the primary means for Aboriginal people to make themselves visible as citizens within the Australian polity (*Rowse T*, 2005). ACCHSs therefore have several important roles within Aboriginal communities: community representatives in Aboriginal affairs; health care service providers; local level governance; and a major expression of Aboriginal civil society (*Sullivan P*, 2010). ACCHSs are both drivers of positive social and health change and manifestations of such change.

### 2.3 A framework for considering the contributions of ACCHSs

In order to undertake this review, the different activities and functions of ACCHSs, and the pathways through which these might influence health directly and indirectly, have been considered. ACCHSs are more than just clinical service providers and the different functions of ACCHSs have been described in the document Core functions of primary health care: a framework for the Northern Territory (*Tilton E & Thomas D, 2011*). This document groups core ACCHS functions into the following five domains:

- 1. Community engagement, control and cultural safety
- 2. Advocacy and Aboriginal knowledge
- 3. Corporate services and infrastructure including clinical governance, quality improvement, and employment and training
- Health promotion including creating supportive environments, supporting community development, orienting health services and providing health education, and
- 5. Clinical services from prevention and early intervention to treatment and rehabilitation.

# 2 | CONTEXT

Many of these functions and the ways in which the functions may influence health are interrelated. In particular, community engagement and control is central to how ACCHSs undertake other core functions. The Aboriginal community informs what and how clinical services and health promotion programs will operate, how corporate services will function and what knowledge and expertise will inform advocacy and partnership efforts. Community control may also influence health more directly. Self-determination has been argued to be an important determinant of health among Aboriginal peoples (Reading CL & Wien F, 2009; Scrimgeour D, 2014) and ACCHSs are a practical expression of self-determination. In addition, ACCHSs are recognised as a source of community pride and resilience, which may contribute to individual and community health and wellbeing (Couzos S & Murray R, 2007).

The other ACCHS core functions may influence health either directly or indirectly. ACCHSs are authorized to speak on behalf of the communities they support and represent and through advocacy efforts they may influence local and state level policies in health and related areas (Couzos S & Murray R, 2007). ACCHSs frequently partner with other organisations and in doing so work to achieve improved health care and health outcomes for Aboriginal people. This may include addressing barriers in access to care and ensuring services provided by other organisations are culturally appropriate. These roles are likely to contribute to improving the quality of care available to Aboriginal peoples from other parts of the health system, thereby contributing to improving Aboriginal health.

ACCHS corporate services, or infrastructure, may also contribute to health. Employment and education are widely recognised as important and proximal social determinants of health (*Reading CL & Wien F, 2009; Wilkinson R & Marmot M, 2003*) and ACCHSs are significant employers and trainers of Aboriginal people. In addition, ACCHSs provide training to non-Aboriginal health professionals. Cultural immersion of non-Aboriginal health professionals in Aboriginal community settings, such as ACCHSs, has been identified as an important strategy in cultural appropriateness training and addressing the institutionalised racism in the health system (Henry BR, Houston S, & Mooney G, 2004).

Clinical services and health promotion programs provide the most direct impact on the health of individuals and populations. The performance or quality of health services (both clinical services and health promotion programs) is conventionally considered as multidimensional, incorporating attributes such as accessibility, effectiveness, appropriateness, efficiency, relevance and equity (Maxwell R, 1984). The Australian Government has applied these dimensions to the context of Aboriginal health in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework (Commonwealth of Australia, 2012). This document describes several domains for assessing the performance of the Australian health system as a whole, which can also be used to consider the performance of individual services, or parts of the health system, in improving Aboriginal health. The Framework describes quality care as care that is:

- Effective, appropriate and efficient (measured through indicators such as immunisation, chronic disease management, procedures and avoidable admissions)
- Responsive (measured through indicators such as discharge against medical advice, access to mental health services and number of Aboriginal people in the workforce)
- Accessible (measured through indicators such as access to prescription medicines and after hours care)
- Continuous (measured through indicators such as having a regular general practitioner or health service and chronic disease care planning)
- Capable (measured through accreditation and the number of Aboriginal people in training for health disciplines)
- Sustainable (measured through expenditure and recruitment and retention of workforce).

Many of these dimensions are interrelated. Access is an essential component of the performance of health services; services cannot be effective if they are not used. Access depends on a range of factors including that care is affordable, available and appropriate. For Aboriginal people, appropriate care is not just care that is needs and evidence based. Appropriate care depends on the service and approach being informed by Aboriginal peoples' beliefs and values. Appropriate services are those that are regarded by Aboriginal people as culturally appropriate and safe. For the purposes of this review, a broad perspective of the pathways through which ACCHSs might contribute to Aboriginal health has been taken. A framework has been developed for considering the contribution of ACCHSs for this review (see Figure 1). This framework has been informed by the core functions of ACCHSs and quality components most relevant to the review question.



#### Figure 1

A framework for considering the ways ACCHSs contribute to health for Aboriginal peoples





Several methods were used to undertake this literature review. Initially, a systematic and structured literature search was undertaken of published, peer-reviewed studies. Medline was searched in January 2014 using key word searches including "Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services" and "Health Services, Indigenous". The search was restricted to English language articles and no publication date was set.

The same search terms were used in January 2014 to identify grey literature from the following key organisations and databases:

- Closing the Gap Clearinghouse
- Indigenous HealthInfonet
- Lowitja Institute
- Primary Health Care Research and Information Service
- Department of Health
- National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation and its state and territory affiliates.

Reference lists of peer-reviewed articles and grey literature were manually checked for additional publications relevant to the review questions. Publications on the evidence supporting Indigenous health services in the United States, Canada and New Zealand were also sought using online search engines.

Abstracts of peer-reviewed articles and executive summaries of grey literature were reviewed by the lead author to identify results relevant to the literature review questions. There were several criteria for inclusion in this review. Firstly, publications were included if they evaluated an ACCHS service or activity and considered its impact on health outcomes, health care use or other outcomes where there is general consensus of a relationship with health. Secondly, gualitative publications were included if they described attributes or functions of ACCHSs and related these attributes or functions with health or health care outcomes. Thirdly, qualitative publications were also included if they described the impact of ACCHSs on other parts of the health system or on health policy.

Over the course of undertaking this review additional peer-reviewed articles that were published later in 2014 were also considered. A reference group, comprising experts within the Aboriginal community controlled health sector, reviewed the results and identified additional peer-reviewed and grey literature publications.

Of the 2003 peer reviewed articles returned in the initial Medline search, 19 were relevant to this literature review. An additional 22 peer reviewed articles were identified through snowballing or by the reference group, or were published over the course of the review. Nine grey literature publications were identified that met the inclusion criteria.

Publications were analysed and grouped by the two lead authors using the Framework outlined in Section 2. Analysis is presented using narrative synthesis and tabular representation.

### 4.1 Impact of community control on health

Adoption of the community-controlled model has been associated with improved health outcomes for Aboriginal peoples in international studies. A study by Lavoie and colleagues (Lavoie JG et al., 2010) explored the relationship between First Nation community health service characteristics and rates of hospitalisation in Canada. This study found that communities who transitioned from government control to local community control of health services (including managing and administering health resources) experienced a 30% reduction in hospitalisation rates. This was in contrast to communities that either transitioned to shared responsibility for delivering health services or continued government control of health services. In this study, hospitalisation rates decreased each year following the implementation of community control agreements. The authors attributed the lower hospitalisation rates to improved psychological wellbeing due to self-determination.

Other studies support this association between community control and psychosocial wellbeing. Another Canadian study (Chandler MJ & Lalonde CE, 1998) explored the relationship between community attributes and suicide rates among Aboriginal communities in British Columbia. The study found that suicide rates varied widely across 196 Aboriginal communities and that the variable incidence rates were strongly associated with the degree to which the communities were engaged in practices that control their own services. These cultural practices included local control of traditional lands, educational services, police and protection services and health delivery. The authors concluded that having control over community affairs vouchsafed cultural continuity and protected psychological wellbeing.

While similar studies have not yet been undertaken in Australia, the published literature suggests that ACCHSs contribute to positive health and wellbeing for Aboriginal peoples (*Baba JT, Brolan CE, & Hill PS, 2014*). ACCHSs are described in the literature as an important expression of self-determination and self-reliance for Aboriginal people, as well as being a source of pride and cultural integrity for communities (Weightman M, 2013). One qualitative study relates to the impact of the community control model on health outcomes. Baba and colleagues explored selfperceived health determinants among Aboriginal peoples (Baba JT et al., 2014) and found that participants considered ACCHSs to be community empowering and a positive determinant of health. Participants connected ACCHSs with improved healthcare seeking rates and improved mental health and wellbeing among themselves and their communities.

### 4.2 Contribution of ACCHS knowledge and expertise through partnerships and advocacy

ACCHSs contribute to improving the performance of the broader health system through partnerships with other health professionals and organisations and through informing health policy (Laugharne J, Glennen M, & Austin J, 2002; Longstreet DA et al., 2005; Marley J et al., 2010; Nel P & Pashen D, 2003; Simmons D, 2003). Several studies described partnership models involving ACCHSs and other organisations that improved the quality of care available to Aboriginal peoples. These partnership models typically involved ACCHSs and government service providers working together to establish new programs located at ACCHSs and staffed by both partners. These included in the areas of haemodialysis (Marley J et al., 2010), antenatal care (Nel P & Pashen D, 2003; Panaretto KS et al., 2005), diabetes (Simmons D, 2003), and mental health (Laugharne J et al., 2002). Studies were consistent in illustrating an increase in service utilisation and an improvement in health outcomes for Aboriginal peoples accessing the services (further detail is provided in Section 4.4.4).

ACCHSs advocate on behalf of Aboriginal communities and in doing so have contributed to health policy. Bartlett and Boffa describe the contribution ACCHSs have made to Aboriginal affairs policy through advocacy efforts (*Bartlett B & Boffa J, 2001, 2005*).

The authors note that ACCHSs have a long history of advocacy and have informed policies aimed at addressing Aboriginal health disadvantage. These include clarification of state and federal responsibilities in Aboriginal health and the development of policies aimed at increasing ACCHS access to Medicare funding. The authors noted that these efforts are often undertaken in the context of inadequate resources when compared with other government partners.

ACCHS advocacy efforts have contributed to addressing alcohol related harm in Aboriginal communities (Boffa J, George C, & Tsey K, 1994; Hogan E, Boffa J, Rosewarne C, Bell S, & Ah Chee D, 2006). A study by Hogan and colleagues outlines the success of the Central Australian Aboriginal Congress in advocating for alcohol restrictions in Alice Springs (Hogan E et al., 2006). These restrictions were associated with a reduction in alcohol-related assaults and a reduction in presentations to primary care organisations and hospitals for alcohol related complaints. ACCHSs have also been effective in campaigning for greater regulation of licensed venues in the Northern Territory (Boffa J et al. 1994). In this case the local ACCHS and community was concerned that licensed venues were using entertainment to encourage alcohol consumption that was leading to high rates of alcohol related harm, including violence. Advocacy efforts by the ACCHS led to greater regulation of licensed premises and the establishment of a local women's refuge.

### 4.3 Contribution of ACCHSs as employers and trainers

ACCHSs contribute to improving Aboriginal health through directly addressing the social determinants of health (*Alford K, 2014*). Employment is an important and proximal determinant of health, improving psychological wellbeing and increasing access to resources that promote health (*Osborne K, Baum F, & Brown L, 2013*). In 2014, the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO) undertook a review of the economic value of ACCHSs and found that ACCHSs are major employers of Aboriginal people (*Alford K, 2014*). An estimated 3,215 Aboriginal people are employed at ACCHSs, comprising 55% of the total ACCHS workforce. This makes the Aboriginal community controlled health sector the largest employer of Aboriginal people in Australia. In addition to providing employment, ACCHSs contribute to the broader skilled Aboriginal workforce through providing training pathways in a range of management, administrative and health careers.

ACCHSs employ Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people and as employers and trainers of non-Aboriginal people ACCHSs contribute to improving the performance of the broader health system (Alford K, 2014). ACCHSs provide employment and training for a range of non-Aboriginal health professionals including medical students, general practice registrars (Martin ME & Reath JS, 2011), medical specialists (Alford K, 2014), nurses and allied health trainees. These efforts are described in the literature as contributing to the cultural competency of health professionals and organisations and this contributes to improving the availability of culturally secure care for Aboriginal peoples (Martin ME & Reath JS, 2011).

#### 4.4 Contribution of ACCHSs as primary health care providers

### 4.4.1 Impact of ACCHSs on access to primary health care

As primary health care providers, ACCHSs directly contribute to improving Aboriginal health. Access to quality health care is vital for healthy populations and ACCHSs increase Aboriginal peoples' access to quality primary health care (Adams K, Halacas C, Cincotta M, & Pesich C, 2014; Department of Health and Aged Care, 2001; Dimer L et al., 2013; Dwyer J et al., 2011; Eades S, 2004; Laugharne J et al., 2002; Nel P & Pashen D, 2003; Panaretto KS et al., 2005; Parker EJ et al., 2012; Turner AW, Xie J, Arnold AL, Dunn RA, & Taylor HR, 2011). Government reports suggest that ACCHSs deliver health services to approximately 50% of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population (Office for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health and National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, 2008). Other studies have found higher rates of ACCHS use, including a study in Victoria that estimated that 70% of the Victorian Aboriginal population regularly accessed ACCHSs (Adams K et al., 2014).

ABORIGINAL COMMUNITIES IMPROVING ABORIGINAL HEALTH | 2015

The NACCHO review mentioned above found that Aboriginal peoples' demand for ACCHS delivered care is also increasing, at a rate of 6.3% annually, exceeding growth in demand for other health care services (Alford K, 2014).

Evaluations of ACCHS programs consistently illustrate increases in service utilisation with the introduction of the program. The Townsville Aboriginal and Islander Health Service's Mums and Babies project involved the ACCHS partnering with local government services to integrate previously autonomous antenatal care providers and deliver a service at the ACCHS (Panaretto KS et al., 2005). Evaluations of this program reveal that it led to improved antenatal attendance and improved health outcomes for local Aboriginal women and their babies (see Section 4.4.4). Between 1998-99 (prior to the program) and 2000-2005 the average number of antenatal visits among local pregnant women increased from three to six. A similar program at Yapatjarra Medical Centre was shown to have led to an increase in the proportion of women receiving antenatal care and an improvement in perinatal health outcomes (Nel P & Pashen D, 2003). In these studies, the ACCHS setting was noted to be an important factor in the accessibility of the program.

ACCHSs have been effective in increasing Aboriginal peoples' access to other areas of primary health care, including cancer and chronic disease prevention. An ACCHS in Katherine developed and implemented a targeted campaign to increase participation of local Aboriginal women in preventive health activities including pap smears (Department of Health and Aged Care, 2001). The campaign evaluation illustrated a reduction in the proportion of local women who had never had a pap smear from 44% before the campaign to 28% after the campaign. Two ACCHSs, one in Western Australia and one in Tasmania, developed cardiac rehabilitation programs after recognising that local Aboriginal people were not accessing the mainstream programs available in the area (Davey M, Moore W, & Walters J, 2014; Dimer L et al., 2013; Stoneman A, Atkinson D, Davey M, & Marley JV, 2014). Evaluations of these programs found that the

programs were well attended by Aboriginal people and were associated with improvements in health outcomes (see Section 4.4.4). The authors of both studies concluded that the ACCHS setting and culturally appropriate approach contributed to the high attendance rates.

Similarly, ACCHSs have responded to barriers to accessing mental health services for local communities. A Western Australian ACCHS developed a mental health program in response to perceived inadequate local mental health services and high rates of evacuation to tertiary centres for care (Laugharne J et al., 2002). The program involved establishing an ACCHS run clinic with psychiatrists and local health workers. An evaluation of the program illustrated increased service utilisation and engagement with local Aboriginal people, including among those who had not previously engaged with mental health services. The success of the program in increasing access to mental health services was attributed to the clinic being operated by the local ACCHS and the existing relationships between the ACCHS and the community.

Some studies focused on service utilisation and did not consider improvements in health outcomes; however, these still provide important information on the impact of ACCHSs as there is consensus that improved access to these primary health care components is associated with improved care and health outcomes (Dwyer J et al., 2011). This is particularly so for populations with a high burden of disease and who experience barriers to accessing health care. A before and after study of the antenatal and postnatal service at Congress Alukura found that the proportion of local women having a first trimester antenatal visit increased from 23% to 38% after the service began (Carter E, Lumley J, Wilson G, & Bell S, 2004). Similarly, an evaluation of the Daruk Aboriginal Community Controlled Medical Service antenatal care program found that the introduction of the ACCHS program increased utilisation of antenatal care for local women and had favourable access when compared to other local providers (Eades S, 2004). Among women attending Daruk for antenatal care, 36% presented in the first trimester compared with 21-26% of those attending other services.

Women attending Daruk for antenatal care also had a higher number of antenatal visits and were more likely to complete routine antenatal tests when compared with women attending other services.

ACCHSs have also improved Aboriginal peoples' access to dental care and specialist care (*Parker EJ et al., 2012; Turner AW et al., 2011*). Parker and colleagues describe the development of a dental service for Aboriginal children based in a South Australian ACCHS and staffed by ACCHS and non-ACCHS dental staff (*Parker EJ et al., 2012*). This led to a substantial increase in participation rates of Aboriginal children in local dental services from 53% to 70%. A similar study by Turner and colleagues explored factors that increased Aboriginal peoples access to eye services. The authors found that providing eye services through ACCHSs led to improved service utilisation by Aboriginal people (*Turner AW et al., 2011*).

ACCHSs increase Aboriginal peoples' access to primary health care even where alternative services exist (Davey M et al., 2014; Dimer L et al., 2013; Jan S et al., 2004; Scrimgeour M & Scrimgeour D, 2007). A review of the literature regarding health care access for Aboriginal people living in urban areas found that ACCHSs are an important provider of health care for urban Aboriginal peoples (Scrimgeour M & Scrimgeour D, 2007). The reviewers found that ACCHSs reduce a range of barriers to accessing health care including affordability and through offering an appropriate model of care for Aboriginal people.

The ACCHS setting is integral to improving access and studies consistently describe ACCHSs as being familiar and welcoming with trusted staff and ways of delivering care. A qualitative study explored Aboriginal peoples' perspectives on why Aboriginal peoples access ACCHSs over other locally available services *(Jan S et al., 2004).* Study participants stated that there were several characteristics that made ACCHSs accessible, citing relationships and trust, the flexible approach, transport and informal child care, clear and appropriate information, continuity of care, empowerment and family centred care. In the evaluation of the Western Australia cardiac rehabilitation program described above, participants were asked about their preferred setting for such programs (*Dimer L et al., 2013*). Of the 49 participants, 46 stated that ACCHSs are their preferred setting for rehabilitation programs citing strong relationships between community members and the ACCHS, and the culturally safe setting.

Aboriginal peoples are more likely to describe positive health care experiences from ACCHSs than other types of health services (Aspin C, Brown N, Jowsey T, Yen L, & Leeder S, 2012; Govil D et al., 2014; Jowsey T et al., 2012). A qualitative study undertaken in Western Sydney explored enablers and barriers to accessing health care for chronic disease (Aspin C et al., 2012). Aboriginal people with a chronic disease, and their carers, were recruited through two ACCHSs. Participants described strong support for ACCHS delivered care stating that they felt accepted at ACCHSs, that their health needs were taken seriously by ACCHS staff, and that they could approach ACCHSs with confidence that their health needs would be addressed in a culturally appropriate manner. Participants cited the presence of Aboriginal staff as evidence that services are committed to improving Aboriginal health and described Aboriginal Health Workers as having an important role in providing information and minimising anxiety and confusion among patients. The positive experiences at ACCHSs described by participants contrasted with negative experiences at other health organisations.

These findings are consistent with other qualitative studies exploring the health care experiences of Aboriginal peoples. Jowsey and colleagues compared Aboriginal patient and carer experiences at ACCHSs and other organisations (Jowsey T et al., 2012). Participants were recruited through the ACCHS and reported positive experiences in ACCHSs that reflected both their relationships with ACCHS staff as well as the physical environment. Participants described feeling comfortable and safe in ACCHS waiting areas and consulting rooms. In contrast, other health care organisations were constructed as 'quiet and formal sick spaces' that deterred participants from accessing them. Govil and colleagues undertook a study exploring the experiences of ACCHS patients with coronary heart disease and found that participants had a strong preference for attending the local ACCHS for their health management (Govil D et al., 2014).

The reasons for this preference provided by participants were greater trust in ACCHS staff, availability of multiple services, confidence in staff expertise and proximity to the community.

An important limitation of the studies described above is that participants were recruited through ACCHSs and this may contribute to both sampling and information bias. However, studies with other sampling methods have reported similar results. Ward and colleagues recruited young Aboriginal people at sporting and cultural events in NSW to explore the use of health services for sexually transmissible infections, blood borne viral infections and drug and alcohol issues (Ward J et al., 2013). Over half of those who reported having a sexual health test in the previous 12 months reported doing so at an ACCHS, compared with 29% who reported doing so at a general practice. ACCHSs were the most common clinical location for seeking sexual health advice (69%) and this was consistent across different age groups and gender. In addition, participants identified preferring ACCHSs over other types of health services for accessing sexual health related care. The authors noted that ACCHSs have an important advantage over other providers of sexual health services because they are culturally appropriate and this is likely to be especially important for sensitive issues such as sexual health. A study by Mooney-Somers and colleagues (2009) supports these findings. In this study, young Aboriginal people recruited in community locations were asked about their experiences accessing sexual health services. Participants described high levels of satisfaction with ACCHS care and valued the sense of care, integrated services, holistic approach and personal relationships with staff (Mooney-Somers J et al., 2009).

#### 4.4.2 Evidence that ACCHSs provide best practice comprehensive primary health care

Comprehensive primary health care delivered by ACCHSs has been identified as a best practice model (*Griew R et al., 2008*). Hurley and colleagues (2010) undertook a review of the nature of primary health care being delivered by different services in Australia. They found that comprehensive primary health care, as defined in the Declaration of Alma Ata (*WHO 1978*), is uncommon in the Australian health system and ACCHSs are one of the few settings where comprehensive primary health care exists. The authors noted several enabling factors for achieving comprehensive primary health care, including culturally appropriate and accessible services and community participation (*Hurley C et al., 2010*).

A range of functions and activities are undertaken by ACCHSs as part of their primary health care model. The following activities and services are documented in the published literature:

- Clinical care including child and maternal health, mens health, chronic disease, sexual health, mental health and drug and alcohol services (*Wakerman J et al., 2008*)
- Population health programs including immunisation, health promotion and environmental health programs (Campbell MA, Finlay S, Lucas K, Neal N, & Williams R 2014; Shannon C & Longbottom H, 2004)
- On-site pharmaceutical dispensing and affordable medicines programs (Couzos S, Sheedy V, & Thiele DD, 2011)
- Specialist services including haemodialysis (Marley J et al., 2010) and optometry (Turner AW et al., 2011)
- Family violence, family reunion, child protection and child care programs (Dwyer J, O'Donnell K, Lavoie J, Marlina U, & Sullivan P, 2009)
- Anger management courses, counseling and bereavement services (*Dwyer J et al., 2009*)
- Support for local sporting teams and community events (Malseed C, Nelson A, Ware R, Lacey I, & Lander K, 2014)
- Accommodation for homeless people (Dwyer J et al., 2009)
- Transport services (Dwyer J et al., 2009; Jan S et al., 2004; Panaretto KS et al., 2005)
- Dental services including outreach, dental surgery and school screening programs (*Parker EJ et al., 2012*)
- Aged and disability care programs including accommodation (*Dwyer J et αl., 2009*)
- Outreach services including home visits (Nel P & Pashen D, 2003; Rowley KG et al., 2008)

This broad range of services and activities are highly integrated and coordinated. A study by Ong and colleagues (2010) compared consultations at ACCHSs with those at general practice and found several areas of difference between the two models of care (Ong K, 2010). Consultations at ACCHSs were more likely to involve a range of health professionals, including Aboriginal Health Workers and nurses, in addition to general practitioners. ACCHS consultations were also more likely to involve strategies to improve compliance, including medication dosing, appointment recalls and seeing family members as part of routine consultations. ACCHS consultations were also more likely to involve home visits, case conferencing and managing complex medical conditions when compared with consultations at general practices. These differences illustrate the integrated and coordinated nature of the ACCHS primary health care model.

Other studies provide further support that the ACCHS model of primary health care is integrated and coordinated. Larkins and colleagues in Townsville (2006), and Thomas and colleagues in Darwin (1998), compared consultations at local ACCHSs with local and national general practice data from the Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH) surveys (Larkins SL et al., 2006; Thomas DP, Heller RF, & Hunt JM, 1998). Both studies found that a greater number of problems were managed per consultation by the ACCHS when compared with consultations with Aboriginal people at general practices in the local area and nationally. The authors of both studies suggested that this is likely to reflect different case mix between the types of health organisations as well as ACCHSs being more responsive and better able to provide coordinated care for the range of health issues facing each patient.

### 4.4.3 Contribution of the ACCHS primary health care model

The ACCHS primary health care model contributes to improved health outcomes for Aboriginal peoples (*Rowley KG et al., 2008*). Rowley and colleagues (2008) explored cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in a remote Northern Territory community where the sole provider of health care is an ACCHS. The community under study had lower all-cause mortality, lower cardiovascular mortality, lower prevalence of diabetes, and lower prevalence of other cardiovascular risk factors (smoking, hypertension, obesity) when compared with the average for all Aboriginal people in the Northern Territory. The authors commented that this is likely to be due to the outstation lifestyle of the community and the ACCHS model of primary health care, in particular how the ACCHS responds to the community's lifestyle through outreach and flexible services.

#### 4.4.4 Contribution of ACCHS primary health care components

ACCHS primary health care components have contributed to improving health outcomes in a range of areas and the published literature supporting this is primarily in five key areas of primary health care: maternal health, child health, chronic disease prevention and management, sexual health and mental health. Table 1 summarises the key findings from these studies.

<mark>Author</mark> Maternal and child health	Description of program	Key findings	ACCHS factors noted in success of program
(Panaretto KS et al., 2005) – (1) (Eades S, 2004) - (2) (Dwyer J et al., 2004) - (3)	Townsville Aboriginal and Islander Health Service established a Mums and Babies project to integrate local antenatal care providers (both ACCHS and government) that had previously operated autonomously. The project involves maternal and child health clinics delivered at the ACCHS and staffed by ACCHS and government employees. These clinics offer antenatal and postnatal care, immunisation, child health monitoring, childcare and transport.	<ul> <li>Significant increase in smoking cessation</li> <li>Significant reduction in perinatal mortality (1)</li> <li>Significant decrease in premature births</li> <li>Significant decrease in low for gestation weight births (2)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The collaborative model and "safe" environment of an ACCHS noted to increase access (1,2,3)</li> <li>Relationships between ACCHS and community members noted to increase appropriateness and responsiveness of the service and community awareness (1).</li> </ul>
(Nel P & Pashen D, 2003)	The Yapatjarra Medical Centre established an antenatal clinic that included outreach visits, shared care and free ultrasounds.	<ul> <li>Reduction in perinatal mortality</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ACCHS setting noted to contribute to improved attendance and health outcomes.</li> </ul>
(Aspery W, Jarrett J, & Donovan I, 1998)	Durri Aboriginal Corporation developed a child and maternal health program that involved education classes, antenatal care, birth support, postnatal home visits and immunisation clinics.	<ul> <li>Increase in immunisation rates</li> <li>Increase in breastfeeding among attending women on discharge and at six weeks (30% in 1993-4 to 44% in 1995-6)</li> </ul>	
Child health			
(Warchivker I & Hayter A, 2001)	A Northern Territory ACCHS developed a nutrition program that involved providing meals to families, monitoring child growth and providing feedback to mothers through workshops on nutrition and child development.	<ul> <li>Reduced hospital admiss</li> <li>Improved growth and nut</li> </ul>	

<mark>Author</mark> Child health	Description of program	Key findings	ACCHS factors noted in success of program
(Black A et al., 2013)	Bulgarr Ngaru ACCHS established a nutrition program involving subsidised weekly fruit and vegetable boxes and cooking and nutrition education sessions to local Aboriginal Families	<ul> <li>Reduced oral antibiotic prescription use</li> <li>Significant increases in mean</li> </ul>	• High level of community governance and control noted to be factor in success.
Chronic disease			
(Rowley KG et al., 2008)	Cardiovascular risk factors and mortality were compared between a Northern Territory community where the sole provider of primary health care is an ACCHS and the broader Northern Territory population over a ten-year period.	<ul> <li>Reduced all-cause mortality</li> <li>Reduced cardiovascular mortality</li> <li>Reduced rate of diabetes</li> <li>Reduced rate of hypertension</li> <li>Reduced obesity</li> <li>Reduced smoking</li> </ul>	• Improved health outcomes were attributed to the nature of the primary health care provided by the ACCHS, in particular the provision of outreach and the community's role in controlling and delivering its own health care.
(Longstreet DA et al., 2005)	Townsville Aboriginal and Islander Health Service documented quality improvement processes undertaken to improve diabetes care. Service changes included establishing a multidisciplinary diabetes team, developing community resources and establishing a diabetes register.	<ul> <li>Proportion of patients achieving good blood pressure control improved from 29% to 44%</li> <li>Proportion of patients achieving good diabetic control improved from 22% to 25%</li> <li>Proportion of patients receiving appropriate medication use increased</li> </ul>	
(Simmons D, 2003)	Rumbalara Aboriginal Health Service established a diabetes care service that involved weekly specialist diabetes clinics integrated with the primary health care team.	<ul> <li>Improved metabolic control among patients with diabetes</li> <li>Significant increase in self-glucose monitoring and insulin use</li> <li>Significant reduction in blood pressure</li> </ul>	
(Marley J, Nelson C, O'Donnell V, & Atkinson D, 2012)	Derby Aboriginal Health Service undertook continuous quality improvement activities for diabetes care over a ten-year period.	<ul> <li>Reduced blood pressure</li> <li>Reduced cholesterol levels</li> <li>Reduced HbAlc levels</li> </ul>	• ACCHS governance and provision of outreach services noted to be important factors in improving diabetes care.

Author Chronic Disease	Description of program	Key findings	ACCHS factors noted in success of program
(Marley J et al., 2010)	The Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Service partnered with Royal Perth Hospital to establish a dialysis centre, operated by the ACCHS.	• Comparable adjusted mortality rates among Aboriginal patients attending the ACCHS dialysis service when compared with non- Aboriginal patients on th Australian and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry	<ul> <li>Adherence to treatment and improved clinical outcomes attributed to patient satisfaction with care and effective communication.</li> </ul>
(Dimer L et al., 2013)	A Western Australian ACCHS established a cardiac rehabilitation program that involved weekly exercise and education sessions in a 'yarning' style for Aboriginal people with or at risk of cardiovascular disease.	<ul> <li>Reduced body mass index</li> <li>Reduced blood pressure</li> <li>Reduced waist girth</li> <li>Increased 6 minute walk distance</li> </ul>	• ACCHS noted to be the ideal location for managing cardiovascular health because they are culturally secure, have established trust and relationships between staff and community members and take a holistic approach to health management.
(Davey M et al., 2014)	Tasmanian Aboriginal Corporation established a cardiopulmonary rehabilitation program for local Aboriginal people after recognising that non-Aboriginal specific local programs were not being utilised.	<ul> <li>Significant improvement in weight</li> <li>Significant improvement in waist circumference</li> <li>Significant improvement in BMI</li> <li>Improved exercise capacity including increased 6 minute walk distance</li> <li>Significant improvement in quality of life</li> </ul>	• Culturally appropriate approach, familiar and trusted setting and staff noted to be factors in success.
(Turner AW et al., 2011)	Access to, and utilisation of, eye health services was explored through community eye health services and prevalence of eye disease in 30 communities across Australia.	• Reduction in vision impairment where eye services were located within an ACCHS	• ACCHS setting noted to optimise access and health outcomes.
(Abbott PA, Davison JE, Moore LF, & Rubinstein R, 2012)	The Aboriginal Medical Service Western Sydney developed a program of nutrition classes for patients with diabetes.	<ul> <li>Increased knowledge of healthy eating and cooking skills</li> <li>Healthier eating behaviours</li> </ul>	• The success of the program was attributed to the ACCHS setting and culturally appropriate staff and approaches.

Author Chronic Disease	Description of program	Key findings	ACCHS factors noted in success of program
(Malseed C et al., 2014)	ACCHSs worked with communities to run 'Deadly Choices' community events to increase knowledge of chronic disease and healthy behaviours and increase engagement between community members and local ACCHSs.	<ul> <li>All knowledge scores significantly improved between baseline and follow up (chronic disease, nutrition, physic activity and smoking)</li> </ul>	cal
Sexual health			
(Huang RL, Torzillo PJ, Hammond VA, Coulter ST, & Kirby AC, 2008)	A central Australian ACCHS developed a sexual health program that focused on increasing opportunistic testing and annual population wide screening of 14-40 year olds.	<ul> <li>Reduction in chlamydia</li> <li>Reduction in gonorrhea between 1996 and 2003</li> </ul>	infections by 58%
(Su JY & Skov S, 2008)	An ACCHS in the Tiwi Islands	• Reduction in chlamydia	by 95%
	established a sexual health program to increase screening and treatment of sexually transmissible infections.	• Reduction in gonorrhoea by 60%	
		<ul> <li>Reduction in syphilis by 89%</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>Decreases did not occur in nearby regions over same period</li> </ul>	
Mental health			
(Laugharne J et al., 2002)	A Western Australian ACCHS partnered with other mental health providers to establish a mental health clinic at the ACCHS and staffed by visiting psychiatrists and Aboriginal Health Workers.	• Reduction in psychiatric admissions by 58%	<ul> <li>Program links with, and endorsement by, the local ACCHS noted to increase community acceptability and accessibility of the program.</li> </ul>

# 5 | DISCUSSION

This literature review has demonstrated that there is substantial evidence supporting the contributions of ACCHSs to improving Aboriginal health through:

- Offering community control of health services, which contributes to improved health and wellbeing of individuals and communities
- 2. Providing opportunities for training and employment for Aboriginal people
- Enhancing the capacity of the broader health system to respond to the needs of Aboriginal peoples through partnerships, advocacy and increasing the cultural safety of individuals and organisations
- 4. Improving access to comprehensive primary health care for Aboriginal people
- 5. Delivering effective primary health care services

These findings are consistent with the international literature (*Browne AJ et al., 2012; Keleher H, 2001*) and declarations from the World Health Organisation (*WHO, 1978*) that this model of comprehensive primary health care, which is integrated and responsive, addresses the social determinants of health, and involves a high level of community participation, is the most effective means of improving population health and reducing health inequities.

Reviewing the evidence supporting the role of ACCHSs and their contribution to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples poses several challenges. First, there is a small body of evidence relevant to our review question. In part this reflects the relative scarcity of evidence on Aboriginal health in general (Derrick GE et al., 2012). ACCHSs face significant barriers in evaluating and publishing ACCHS programs and activities, including having limited resources to meet high community need for health care (Couzos S & Murray R, 2007), and complex funding streams with a large reporting burden (Dwyer J et al., 2009). This means that there are often competing priorities between service delivery, reporting requirements and evaluation and research. Acknowledgement of the barriers ACCHSs face in evaluating and documenting their

activities, and greater support from research partners and funders to address these barriers, would facilitate increased evaluation and research from ACCHSs.

Second, the existing studies vary in approach, scope and quality. Studies typically focused on a single ACCHS for a limited period of time and therefore provide a local snapshot. This makes it difficult to generalize findings to the Aboriginal community controlled health sector more broadly. In addition, local studies typically comprise a small sample and this limits the likelihood of significant findings.

Third, the published evidence is skewed towards studies evaluating the impact of one or a set of clinical interventions on health outcomes and this is primarily in the areas of child and maternal health. chronic disease, sexual health and mental health. However, it is likely that ACCHSs are also improving Aboriginal health in other, undocumented areas. This focus on the impact of one or a set of clinical interventions is likely to reflect the relative ease in evaluating direct causal pathways (Lawless A, Freeman T, Bentley M, Baum F, & Jolley G, 2014) as well as the focus of peer-reviewed journals (Lee KP, Boyd EA, Holroyd-Leduc JM, Bacchetti P, & Bero LA, 2006), but leaves an important gap in the evidence regarding the impact of the primary health care model as a whole. Only one study (Rowley KG et al., 2008) considered the impact of the ACCHS primary health care model. This gap is not unique to the ACCHS setting and the challenges inherent in evaluating comprehensive primary health care are documented (Lawless A et al., 2014).

While these limitations are important to note, the existing evidence provides valuable lessons that have important implications for funders, policy makers, the Aboriginal community controlled health sector and other stakeholders. Government and the broader primary care sector can learn much from the ACCHS model of primary health care. Health services have been estimated to account for 25% of population health, and the social, cultural and economic determinants are responsible for a far greater proportion of 50% (Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs Science and Technology, 2001).

# 5 | DISCUSSION

The ACCHS model of primary health care addresses both the direct health needs of Aboriginal peoples as well as the socioeconomic contexts in which Aboriginal people live.

The unique attributes of the ACCHS model of primary health care facilitate a high level of community participation that is essential for providing comprehensive primary health care. ACCHSs can provide valuable lessons regarding community participation and control of health services that are likely to be beneficial to other population groups and the broader Australian population. Similarly, the ACCHS model places ACCHSs in the vanguard of clinical governance in Australia and input from the Aboriginal community controlled health sector could inform the implementation of clinical governance in other health care services (*Phillips C et al., 2010*).

The available evidence provides a solid foundation supporting the role of ACCHSs in improving Aboriginal health. The existing ACCHS model is effective in improving the health of Aboriginal peoples through providing quality health care, addressing the social determinants of health and adding value to the broader health system. ACCHSs are strategic organisations for the continued wellbeing of Aboriginal peoples and Aboriginal civil society (*Sullivan P, 2010*). When considering the role and value of ACCHSs in the context of policy and funding decisions it is important that all of the pathways through which ACCHSs contribute to improving the health of Aboriginal peoples are recognised.





- Abbott P, Gordon E, & J, D. (2008). Expanding roles of Aboriginal health workers in the healthcare setting: seeking recognition. Contemporary nurse, 27(2), 157-164.
- Abbott PA, Davison JE, Moore LF, & Rubinstein R. (2012). Effective nutrition education for Aboriginal Australians: lessons from a diabetes cooking course. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 44(1), 55-59.
- Adams K, Halacas C, Cincotta M, & Pesich C. (2014). Mental health and Victorian Aboriginal people: what can data mining tell us? Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20(4), 350-355.
- Alford K. (2014). Investing in Aboriginal community controlled health makes economic sense. Canberra: NACCHO.
- Aspin C, Brown N, Jowsey T, Yen L, & Leeder S. (2012). Strategic approaches to enhanced health service delivery for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with chronic illness: a qualitative study. BMC Health Services, 12, 143 (Online). Acessed 3rd March 2014 from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6963/1412/1143.

Australian Indigenous Health InfoNet. (2014). Summary of Australian Indigenous health, 2013.

- Australian Medical Association. (2011). 2010-11 AMA Indigenous Health Report Card "Best Practice in Primary Health Care for Aboriginal Peoples and Torres Strait Islanders". Canberra: AMA.
- Baba JT, Brolan CE, & Hill PS. (2014). Aboriginal medical services cure more than illness: a qualitative study of how Indigenous services address the health impacts of discrimination in Brisbane communities. International Journal for Equity in Health, 13(1), 55-66.
- Bartlett B, & Boffa J. (2001). Aboriginal community controlled comprehensive primary health care: the Central Australian Aboriginal Congress. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 7(3), 74-82.
- Bartlett B, & Boffa J. (2005). The impact of Aboriginal community controlled health service advocacy on Aboriginal health policy. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 11(2), 53-61.
- Black A. (2007). Evidence of effective interventions to improve the social and environmental factors impacting on health: informing the development of Indigenous Community Agreements. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- Black A, Vally H, Morris PS, Daniel M, Esterman AJ, Smith FE, & O'Dea K. (2013). Health outcomes of a subsidised fruit and vegetable program for Aboriginal children in northern New South Wales. Medical Journal of Australia, 199(1), 46-50.
- Boffa J, George C, & Tsey K. (1994). Sex, alcohol and violence: a community collaboration against striptease shows. Australian Journal of Public Health, 18(4), 359-366.

Boxall AM, & Gillespie J. (2013). Making Medicare: the politics of universal health care in Australia. Sydney: NewSouth Publishing.

- Browne AJ, Varcoe CM, Wong ST, Smye VL, Lavoie J, Littlejohn D, . . . Lennox S. (2012). Closing the health equity gap: evidencebased strategies for primary health care organisations. International Journal for Equity in Health, 11(59).
- Campbell MA, Finlay S, Lucas K, Neal N, & Williams R (2014). Kick the habit: a social marketing campaign by Aboriginal communities in NSW. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20(4), 327-333.
- Carter E, Lumley J, Wilson G, & Bell S. (2004). "Alukura...for my daughters and their daughters and their daughters": a review of Congress Alukura. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 28(3), 229-234.

Chandler MJ, & Lalonde CE. (1998). Cultural continuity as a hedge against suicide in Canada's First Nationas. Transcultural



- Commonwealth of Australia. (2009). Primary health care reform in Australia: report to support Australia's First National Primary Health Care Strategy. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2012). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework 2012. Accessed 3rd March 2014 from:

http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/Publishing.nsf/Content/F766FC3D8A697685CA257BF0001C96E8/\$File/hpf-2012.pdf

Couzos S, & Murray R. (2007). Aboriginal Primary Health Care: An evidence based approach. South Melbourne, Vic: Oxford University Press.

Couzos S, Sheedy V, & Thiele DD. (2011). Improving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people's access to medicines – the QUMAX program. Medical Journal of Australia, 195(2), 62-63.

- Davey M, Moore W, & Walters J. (2014). Tasmanian Aborigines step up to health: Evaluation of a cardiopulmonary rehabilitation and secondary prevention program. BMC Health Services Research, 14, 349.
- Deeble Institute. (2014). The relative effectiveness of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services compared with mainstream health service. Accessed 3rd November 2014 from: https://ahha.asn.au/system/files/docs/publications/20140916\_deeble\_institute\_evidence\_brief\_relative\_effectiveness \_of\_acchs.pdf
- Department of Health and Aged Care. (2001). Better Health Care: Studies in the Successful Delivery of Primary Health Care Services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians. Canberra: Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Derrick GE, Hayen A, Chapman S, Haynes, A., Webster BM, & Anderson I. (2012). A biblioimetric analysis of research on Indigenous health in Australia, 1972-2008. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 36(3), 269-273.
- Dimer L, Dowling T, Jones J, Cheetham C, Thomas T, Smith J, McManus A & Maiorana AJ. (2013). Build it and they will come: outcomes from a successful cardiac rehabilitation program at an Aboriginal Medical Service. Australian Health Review, 37, 79-82.
- Dwyer J, Kelly J, Willis E, Glover J, Mackean T, Pekarsky B, & Battersby M. (2011). Managing two worlds together: city hospital care for country Aboriginal people – project report. Accessed 22nd February 2014 from: http://www.flinders.edu.au/medicine/fms/sites/health\_care\_management/mtwt/documents/Project Report\_WEB.pdf
- Dwyer J, O'Donnell K, Lavoie J, Marlina U, & Sullivan P. (2009). The Overburden Report: Contracting for Indigenous Health Services. Casurina, NT: Flinders University and Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health.
- Dwyer J, Silburn K, & Wilson G. (2004). National strategies for improving Indigenous health and health care. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care Review: Consultant Report No. 1. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Eades S. (2004). Maternal and Child Health Care Services: Actions in the Primary Health Care Setting to Improve the Health of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women of Childbearing Age, Infants and Young Children. Canberra: Australian Department of Health and Ageing.
- Govil D, Lin I, Dodd T, Cox R, Moss P, Thompson S, & Maiorana A. (2014). Identifying culturally appropriate strategies for coronary heart disease secondary prevention in a regional Aboriginal Medical Service. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20, 266-272.

- Griew R, Tilton E, Cox N, & Thomas D. (2008) The link between primary health care and health outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians, a report for the Office for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing.
- Halliday D, & Segal L. (2012). What works in Indigenous primary health care health reform? A review of the evidence. Retrieved from Health Economics and Social Policy Group Research Paper. Accessed 22nd February 2014 from: http://www.unisa.edu.au/research/sansom-institute-for-healthresearch/research-at-the-sansom/research-concentrations/health-economics-and-social-policy-/:
- Hayman NE, White NE, & Spurling GK. (2009). Improving Indigenous patients' access to mainstream health services: the Inala experience. Medical Journal of Australia, 190(10), 604-606.
- Henry BR, Houston S, & Mooney G. (2004). Institutional racism in Australian healthcare: a plea for decency. Medical Journal of Australia, 180(10), 517-520.
- Herceg A. (2005). Improving health in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mothers, babies and young children: a literature review. Canberra: Department of Health.
- Hogan E, Boffa J, Rosewarne C, Bell S, & Ah Chee D. (2006). What price do we pay to prevent alcohol-related harms in Aboriginal communities? The Alice Springs trial of liquor licensing restrictions. Drug and Alcohol Review, 25(3), 207-212.
- Huang RL, Torzillo PJ, Hammond VA, Coulter ST, & Kirby AC. (2008). Epidemiology of sexually transmitted infections on the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Lands: results of a comprehensive control program. Medical Journal of Australia, 189(8), 442-445.
- Hurley C, Baum F, Johns J, & Labonte R. (2010). Comperhensive Primary Health Care in Australia: findings from a narrative review of the literature. Australasian Medical Journal, 1(2), 147-152.
- Jan S, Conaty S, Hecker R, Bartlett M, Delaney S, & Capon T. (2004). An holistic economic evaluation of an Aboriginal community-controlled midwifery programme in Western Sydney. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy, 9(1), 14-21.
- Jowsey T, Yen L, Ward N, McNabb J, Aspin C, & Usherwood T. (2012). It hinges on the door: Time, spaces and identity in Australian Aboriginal health services. Health Sociology Review, 21, 2(196-207).
- Keleher H. (2001). Why primary health care offers a more comprehensive approach for tackling health inequities than primary care. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 7(2), 57-61.
- Larkins SL, Geia LK, & Panaretto KS. (2006). Consultations in general practice and at an Aboriginal community controlled health service: do they differ? Rural and Remote Health, 6, 560 (Online). Accessed 22nd February 2014 from: http://www.rrh.org.au.
- Laugharne J, Glennen M, & Austin J. (2002). The 'Maga Barndi' mental haelth service for Aboriginal people in Western Australia. Australasian Psychiatry, 10(1), 13-17.
- Lavoie JG, Forget EL, Prakash T, Dahl M, Martens P, & O'Neil JD. (2010). Have investments in on-reserve health services and initiatives promoting community control improved First Nations' health in Manitoba? Social Science and Medicine, 71, 717-724.

## 6 | REFERENCES

- Lawless A, Freeman T, Bentley M, Baum F, & Jolley G. (2014). Developing a good practice model to evaluate the effectiveness of comprehensive primary health care in communities. BMC Family Practice. doi:10.1186
- Lee KP, Boyd EA, Holroyd-Leduc JM, Bacchetti P, & Bero LA. (2006). Predictors of publication: characteristics of submitted manuscripts associated with acceptance at major biomedical journals. Medical Journal of Australia, 184(12), 621-626.
  - Longstreet DA, Griffiths MM, Heath D, Marshall GEG, Morisco P, Geary N, Larkins S & Panaretto K. (2005). Improving diabetes care in an urban Aboriginal medical centre. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 11(3), 25-31.
  - Malseed C, Nelson A, Ware R, Lacey I, & Lander K. (2014). Deadly Choices community health events: a health promotion initiative for urban Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20(4), 379-383.
  - Marley J, Dent HK, Wearne M, Fitzclarence C, Nelson C, Siu K, & Atkinson D. (2010). Haemodialysis outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients of remote Kimberley region origin. Medical Journal of Australia, 193(9), 516-520.
  - Marley J, Nelson C, O'Donnell V, & Atkinson D. (2012). Quality indicators of diabetes care: an example of remote-area Aboriginal primary health care over 10 years. Medical Journal of Australia, 197(7), 404-408.
  - Martin ME, & Reath JS. (2011). General practice training in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health. Medical Journal of Australia, 194(11), 67-70.
  - Maxwell R. (1984). Quality assessment in health. British Medical Journal, 288(6428), 1470-1472.
  - Mooney-Somers J, Erick W, Scott R, Akee A, Kaldor J, & Maher L. (2009). Enhancing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people's resiliance to blood-borne and sexually transmitted infections: findings from a community-based participatory research project. Health Promotion Journal of Australia, 20(3), 195-201.
  - NACCHO. (2013). Investing in healthy futures for generational change. Canberra: NACCHO.
  - NAHSWP. (1989). National Aboriginal Health Strategy. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.
  - National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation. (2012). Members: the role of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services. Accessed 3rd March 2014 from: http://www.naccho.org.au/about-us/naccho-members/
  - National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation. (2014). About us. Accessed 3rd March 2014 from: http://www.naccho.org.au/about-us/
  - Nel P, & Pashen D. (2003). Shared antenatal care for Indigenous patients in a rural and remote community. Australian Family Physician, 32, 127-131.
  - Office for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health and National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation. (2008). A national profile of Australian Government funded Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander primary health care services. Service activity reporting 2005-06. Key results. Canberra: OATSIH and NACCHO.
  - Ong K. (2010). Indigenous population results pamphlet E: The Indigenous health service delivery template. Melbourne: University of Queensland and Brisbane: Deakin University.
  - Osborne K, Baum F, & Brown L. (2013). What works? A review of actions addressing the social and economic determinants of Indigenous health. Retrieved from Canberra:

- Panaretto KS, Lee HM, Mitchell MR, Larkins SL, Manessis V, Buettner PG, & Watson D. (2005). Impact of a collaborative shared antenatal care program for urban Indigenous women: a prospective cohort study. Medical Journal of Australia, 182(10), 514-519.
- Parker EJ, Misan G, Shearer M, Richards L, Russell A, Mills H, & Jamieson M. (2012). Planning, implementing, and evaluating a program to address the oral health needs of Aboriginal children in Port Augusta, Australia. International Journal of Pediatrics, 2012.
- Phillips C, Pearce CM, Hall S, Travaglia J, de Lusignan S, Love T, & Kjakovic M. (2010). Can clinical governance deliver quality improvement in Australian general practice and primary care? A systematic review of the evidence. Medical Journal of Australia, 193(10), 602-607.
- Reading CL, & Wien F. (2009). Health inequalities and social determinants of Aboriginal peoples' health. Prince George: BC: National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health. Accessed 15th February 2014 from: http://www.nccahccnsa.ca/docs/social determinates/nccah-loppie-wien\_report.pdf
- Rogers W, & Veale B. (2000). Primary health care and general practice, a scoping report. . Bedford Park, SA: Department of General Practice, Flinders University.
- Rowley KG, O'Dea K, Anderson I, McDermott R, Saraswati K, Tilmouth R, Roberts I, Fitz J, Wang Z, Jenkins A, Best JD, Wang Z & Brown A. (2008). Lower than expected morbidity and mortality for an Australian Aboriginal population: 10 year follow-up in a decentralised community. Medical Journal of Australia, 188(5), 283-287.
- Rowse T. (2005). The Indigenous Sector. Academy of the Social Sciences and the Department of Anthropology, Sydney: University of Sydney Press.
- Scrimgeour D. (2014). The Aboriginal community controlled health care model. Paper presented at the Primary health care and healthy communities conference, Adelaide.
- Scrimgeour M, & Scrimgeour D. (2007). Health care access for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people living in urban areas, and related research issues: a review of the literature. Darwin: Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health.
- Shannon C, & Longbottom H. (2004). Capacity development in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Service Delivery Case Studies. Accessed 15th February 2014 from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/B3CB608ECEF4658FCA257BF0001DAC93/\$File/4capacity.pdf
- Shannon C, Wakerman J, Hill P, Barnes T, & Griew R. (2002). Achievements in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health: final report. Canberra: Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal and Tropical Health.
- Simmons D. (2003). Impact of an integrated approach to diabetes care at the Rumbalara Aboriginal Health Service. Internal Medicine Journal, 33, 581-585.
- Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs Science and Technology. (2001). The Health of Canadians: The Federal role. Volume 1 - The story so far. Ottawa, Canada: SSCSAST.
- Stoneman A, Atkinson D, Davey M, & Marley JV. (2014). Quality improvement in practice: improving diabetes care and patient outcomes in Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services. BMC Health Services Research, 14. doi:10,1186
- Su JY, & Skov S. (2008). An assessment of the effectiveness of the Tiwi Sexual Health Program 2002-2005. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 32(6), 554-558.



- Sullivan P. (2010). The Aboriginal community sector and the effective delivery of services: Acknowledging the role of Indigenous sector organisations. Working Paper 73. Alice Springs, NT: Desert Knowledge Cooperative Research Centre.
- Thomas DP, Heller RF, & Hunt JM. (1998). Clinical consultations in an Aboriginal community-controlled health service: a comparison with general practice. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 22(1), 86-91.
  - Tilton E, & Thomas D. (2011). Core functions of primary health care: a framework for the Northern Territory. Accessed 24th January 2014 from: http://www.lowitja.org.au/core-functions-phc-services-nt
  - Turner AW, Xie J, Arnold AL, Dunn RA, & Taylor HR. (2011). Eye health service access and utilization in the National Indigenous Eye Health Survey. Clinical and Experimental Opthalmology, 39(7), 598-603.
  - United Nations. (2008). United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Geneva: United Nations.
  - Wakerman J, Humphreys JS, Wells R, Kuipers P, Entwistle P, & Jones. (2008). Primary health care delivery models in rural and remote Australia a systematic review. BMC Health Services Research, 8(276).
  - Warchivker I, & Hayter A. (2001). An evaluation of a nutrition program in a remote community in central Australia. Paper presented at the 6th National Rural Health Conference, Canberra.
  - Ward J, Bryant J, Worth H, Hull P, Solar S, & Bailey S. (2013). Use of health services for sexually transmitted and blood-borne viral infections by young Aboriginal people in New South Wales. Australian Journal of Primary Health, 119, 81-86.
  - Weightman M. (2013). The role of Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services in Indigenous Health. Australian Medical Student Journal, 4(1).
  - WHO. (1978). Declaration of Alma Ata, International conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6-12 September. Accessed 15th February 2014 from: http://www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/declaration\_almaata.pdf.
  - Wilkinson R, & Marmot M. (2003). Social Determinants of Health: The Solid Facts. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organisation.
  - World Health Organisation. (1978). Declaration of Alma Ata, International conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6-12 September. Accessed 22nd February 2014 from: http://www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/declaration\_almaata.pdf.









Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of NSW

LOCATION Level 3, 66 Wentworth Avenue Surry Hills NSW 2010 POSTAL ADDRESS PO Box 1565 Strawberry Hills NSW 2012

 CONTACT
 +61 (02) 9212 4777

 Fax:
 +61 (02) 9212 7211

 e-Mail:
 ahmrc@ahmrc.org.au

 web:
 www.ahmrc.org.au

ABN ABN 66 085 654 397